
 

1 
 

 

STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL 
 

Large Scale Early Strategy Meeting Notes   
 

REVIEW MEETING 
 

SAFEGUARDING ALERT RELATING TO AWP 
 
 

Date:  26th April 2012   Time:     14:30 hrs. 
 
Venue: County Hall, Trowbridge 
 

 
Present: 
James Cawley     Chairman, Service Director Strategy & Commissioning, Adult Care, 
                                 Wiltshire Council 

     Director of Nursing, BANES and Wiltshire NHS  
           Adult Safeguarding & MCA Lead, NHS Wiltshire 

Adrian Francis         Legal Solicitor, Wiltshire Council 
George O’Neill         Head of Services, Commissioning Mental Health, Safeguarding 
             and Substance Misuse, Wiltshire Council                    

             Compliance Inspector, CQC 
Heather Alleyne       Safeguarding and MCA Team Manager, Wiltshire Council 

        Programme Lead for Mental Health, Autism and Dementia, 
                                 Strategic Health Authority 

         Deputy Director of Nursing, AWP 
Tracey Rogers        Minute Taker, SAMCAT, Wiltshire Council 
 
 
Apologies: 
 

           Programme Lead, Strategic Health Authority 
 

 
 
Introductions were made by James Cawley (JC). 
 
JC apologised for the late distribution of the previous meetings minutes.  JC confirmed 
that AWP had announced that their Chief Executive Officer,  had decided 
to take a period of leave. JC also made an advanced apology as he was required to leave 
the meeting sooner than intended due to conflicting arrangements but would pass the 
meeting to  to chair on his behalf. 
 
JC stated that for those who were in attendance of the previous meeting, he would like to 
go through the action points, page by page. 
 

 stated that she and  attended the review of both 
and and confirmed that in both instances, both clients were adequately supported 

and not at risk of safeguarding.   confirmed that with regards to , the MCA had been 



 

2 
 

 

followed and the client was again, adequately supported. 
 
JC advised the meeting that he had seen an email distributed by  but believed there 
were other issues and concerns.  George O’Neill (GO) advised that in relation to , an 
ESM was taking place on Monday 30th April and an APC would be taking place regarding 

 Any issues or concerns will be picked up at these meetings. 
 
GO also confirmed that he and  had met with , Head of Public Protection and 
Safeguarding at AWP for further assurance and plans, this raised other concerns.  GO 
gave an example around care programming and what constitutes a safeguarding issue. 
 
JC stated that ) was asked at the last meeting to reassure the panel 
that appropriate safeguarding measures were in place and that staff are supported and 
performance was managed correctly. JC advised that AWP were given 16 instances 
where staff had been asked to amend client records on RIO.  JC confirmed that  had 
conducted an internal investigation and found no evidence of falsification.  JC was not 
sure if  fully understood what was being asked of her and explained his concerns 
surrounding AWP in more depth. 
 
GO confirmed that whilst conducting his own internal staff  interviews, evidence of 16 
client records were given where staff had been asked to alter information via RIO.  GO 
explained that he had interviewed 30 staff of which 26 of them had issues.  GO was not 
sure if some of these issue would be evident in RIO. 
 

 explained that she had had discussions with  and 
confirmed that the Investigating Steering Group would like to observe the information 
gathered by Wiltshire Council. 
 

) acknowledged that she saw the email distributed by  and 
asked if a detailed report had been submitted.  JC confirmed that  will be supplying 
this on return from annual leave, 8th May and that it had been agreed a further meeting will 
take place upon her return, so that she can attend.  GO expressed his concerns and 
stated the problems within AWP have been highlighted since February 2012 and the 
report should have been submitted. 
 
JC stated that when the representative of AWP joins the meeting, we will ask the following 
questions. 
 

1. Actions given to  at the previous meeting have not been fully met, why? 
2.  asked  to submit a detailed report regarding the concerns, to date this has 

not been received, why and when will it be submitted? 
 
GO confirmed that  was sent a copy of the minutes from the ESM. 
 

confirmed that she was been copied in by Legal Department, health related emails that 
have been sent to AWP staff. 
 
JC confirmed that he had not yet spoken to the SHA in relation to an independent 
investigation being carried out into AWP’s safeguarding practices, but will follow this up. 
 
JC commented that AWP was to ensure that supervision records of staff and managers 



 

3 
 

 

involved, were investigated to quantify their understanding of safeguarding procedures 
and a report was to be completed and submitted by AWP at the next safeguarding 
meeting held 23rd April.  JC asked if this was carried out.  GO confirmed that it had not yet 
been received and required following up. 
 
JC asked if meetings were being carried out on a weekly basis with AWP, NHS Wiltshire 
and Wiltshire Council.  GO confirmed that these are the meetings conducted with  

n.  JC stated that he felt these meetings should continue.  GO commented that in 
terms of policies and procedures, could he suggested that any AWP safeguarding 
concerns be passed on to Wiltshire Council’s safeguarding team.  All agreed. 
 
In relation to point 9 and 12, there has been no feedback from AWP regarding the 
information asked and assurance was required from AWP in terms of their safeguarding 
policies and procedures.  JC suggested that he may need to meet with the new CEO of 
AWP to resolve the issues currently presented. 
 
Pending Investigation 
 

 briefed the panel that an initial meeting was held on 23rd April in Bristol.  GO 
proceeded up update the commissioning leads regarding the concerns found at AWP by 
Wiltshire Council.  confirmed that this meeting was to try and establish if these issues 
were local to Wiltshire, or, more widespread. It was reported that no commissioning lead 
thought they had issues around falsification on RIO.  Bristol reported concerns regarding 
the quality of service and are currently in discussions to retender the contract.  Swindon 
reported they had quality issues.   reported that there was a general feeling of 
concern. 
 

 reported that NHS Swindon had discovered misreading in relation to reviews.  GO 
reported that the safeguarding lead had concerns relating to ward staff around care plans 
being amended when they had not been involved with the case. 
 

 reported that it was sensible to move forward with an in depth review in terms of 
extending it if need be.  GO emphasised the safeguarding concerns within Wiltshire and 
questioned as to how this is escalated if evidence is found. 
 

 reported that there had been a crossover of communication and reported that the 
outcome of this will be that  will step aside from the investigation, however, 
she will continue to review if safeguarding concerns arise within AWP.   also reported 
that  will now chair the steering group and this had been agreed with 

 it would be appropriate for someone else to chair. 
 
JC asked if the terms of reference had been circulated.   and GO both confirmed it had. 
 

 stated that there was a further steering meeting tomorrow 27/04/12 to which she will 
be attending by teleconference.  confirmed that  will attend and update 
the meeting. 
 
JC questioned the outstanding issues relating to AWP which was an important part of the 
investigation, does Wiltshire Council pursue AWP to provide the information not 
submitted, or, would this be picked up as part of the investigation.   replied that 
Wiltshire Council should pursue AWP for as much information as possible.   pointed 



 

4 
 

 

out that with regards to the patient records, if AWP fail to submit this information, this 
could fall under the investigation. 
 

 stated that based on the discussions, assurance is required that the safeguarding 
processes are being met by AWP and that an addition question around methodology and 
influencing staff could be asked.  JC replied that he would have that conversation.   
stressed her concerns that AWP may not have done it but did not know the reasons why.  
GO pointed out that during his internal investigation, he had interviewed professional 
leads and cannot believe they would make it up.  advised that it should be possible to 
track the amendments on RIO, but it would require an experienced person to do that.  AF 
advised the panel that he believed AWP would manipulate data.   advised that all the 
information recorded which also includes amendments is available on RIO. 
 

 stated that the thresholds will not be investigated by AWP, if these are passed to the 
SAMCAT team, it will be pick up 
 

M showed concern that the Safeguarding Lead at AWP may not have the full 
understanding on the job they are advising and information given may not be robust which 
she feels is of concern.   responded and advised that a potential solution would be to 
have a specialist safeguarding team work with AWP.  ) advised that AWP 
processes are very different to which she feels is of concern.   stated that a meeting 
had taken place regarding consistency and the understanding of the thresholds; this 
meeting took place a few days before the ESM. 
 
JC asked Heather Alleyne (HA) what her feelings are regarding the issues with AWP and 
how Wiltshire Council could reassure themselves that no safeguarding situation had been 
missed..  HA replied that the best way would be to audit AWP files to see whether 
safeguarding situations had been missed and customers had been left at risk of abuse.   if 
so alerts could be made. 
 
JC confirmed that resources and capacity would be made available for this . 
 

highlighted that Ofsted had raised concern regards children’s services.  JC 
acknowledged that a conversation with AWP is necessary to find a way forward in solving 
the concerns.   advised that if AWP were not willing to find a solution then a 
conversation is required with the SHA. 
 
JC reiterated that if capacity/resources are required, it will be given. 
 

 confirmed that a teleconference with a number of colleagues who were looking at 
AWP had taken place and had highlighted serious concerns regarding safeguarding 
issues within Bristol.  GO clarified that he had had conversations with a number of Local 
Authorities regarding the Steering Group and that he would like to share the information 
that has been found.   confirmed that she would raise the CQC issue at the next 
steering group and stressed that a conversation is require with . 
 
For the purpose of these minutes  joined the meeting. 
 
JC made introductions and thanked AWP for attending the meeting and highlighted that a 
number of key points from the previous meeting were still outstanding. 
 



 

5 
 

 

 
 
 

 
) advised that he was informed about the safeguarding issues 

25/04/12 due to  being on annual leave.  advised he was informed that notes 
from the previous meeting had not been received. 
 
GO stated that he would investigate as to whether the notes were distributed but did 
clarify that a separate email was sent to  outlining the action points. 
 
JC advised that item one from the action plan was in relation to two individuals and 

 was asked what measure AWP had put in place to safeguard them.  With 
reference to point two and three, there were 16 individual clients raised by staff which 
was in reference to amendments of records within RIO.   
 
JC asked  what actions had been taken in reference to these concerns.   
advised,  had asked for the information, to undertake an investigation as soon as 
she was aware of the concerns. stated the investigation was undertaken by 
management and had progressed as far as it could.   indicated on Friday 20th April 
that she could not corroborate most of the allegations.  The process of using the Care 
Plan template needs to be formalised knowing that we are not getting any further 
information.  The matters are being considered by Member of the Board. 
 

asked for clarification that more “drilling” down of RIO is required in reference to 
the individuals.   advised the “drill” down of RIO records is performed by their ICT 
department.  asked how many of the individuals highlighted did AWP find an 
issue?   stated he did not know.   explained their RIO policy and how the 
investigation took place.   apologised for enquiring about information that cannot 
yet be clarified. 
 
JC asked if the issues were reported to the board and could he have a copy of that 
report as he had not received any correspondence.  advised the board was fully 
alerted by and the investigation is still ongoing.  A record of the board meeting will 
be approved Friday 27th April. 
 
JC reiterated that he did want to see a copy of the report and its details and asked 
when it will be reported to the board.   advised the formal detailed report will be 
issued to  for his conclusions.   stated AWP could not invest anymore to 
the investigation as they have not involved the issues at team level.  Therefore the 
investigation has now stopped and will act on their findings.  JC asked if he was going 
to formally receive notification from AWP that there was nothing to corroborate the 
allegations.   
 

 made a point of reference that NHS Wiltshire, SHA and Wiltshire Council are 
conducting a joint investigation.   clarified with  that he implied the report from 
H  had planned to conduct their own external investigation.   advised the new 
chairman of the trust has instigated his own external investigation which was different 
to  
 



 

6 
 

 

JC explained that he was involved in a telephone conference with the SHA and soon 
after went on annual leave. Since the teleconference, he has not heard anything to the 
contrary.  JC has asked  to approach  and state that Wiltshire Council do 
want to work with AWP to resolve the issue.  thanked JC for the reassurance. 
 

advised she was reporting to the committee and would like to see a report from 
AWP outlining the conclusions. 
 
JC clarified to  the work that was still outstanding by .  JC expressed that with 
relation to the RIO data, in the majority of cases, the staff who were asked to amend 
patient records, refused.  He asked  for an audit to be carried out on how many 
cases clients’ records were closed down and re-opened and were there any 
safeguarding risks.  JC confirmed that to date,  had not clarified that information 
and believed it was of critical nature.   advised, based on the information received 
yesterday, that information was not captured. 
 

asked if AWP staff were competent with the safeguarding protocol and what 
training is received.  advised AWP were 79% compliant with safeguarding training.  

 advised that a detailed report was required to give assurance regarding 
supervision and training.   questioned as to how you would measure staff 
understanding and what tools to use.   assured that training had been successful 
and inspected.   advised a safeguarding audit was in place for this financial year 
but would also expedite the concerns.   stated he was unable to give numbers 
regarding supervisions.  
 

 advised  that the information given does need to be conveyed back as it links 
to the details on item 9 of the action points.   stated that the panel does need to 
know if AWP have robust procedures in place, staff understand and that clients are 
safe.  
 

 advised various triggers exist within their flowcharts/definitions.  Issue of self 
neglect is not defined within those clarifications.  Policy and procedures are in place. 
Staff undertakes MARAC/MAPPA training provided by the council. Compliance seems 
consistent. There is a  legislation committee, a safeguarding audit for this financial 
year.   confirmed that at 8am this morning, he was made aware of an alert by the 
on call manager.  Assurance reports are seen by the legislation committee and 
reported to the board. 
 

stated that there seemed to be a lot of structure around safeguarding and was 
somewhat surprised that AWP had not submitted this information in their initial report.  

 asked with reference to the alert, did safeguarding get involved.   advised the 
incident had occurred in Bristol and that this will be investigated by Bristol City Council. 
 

 expressed that she was grateful for ’s attendance and the information he 
supplied with very little warning.  She apologised for not being able to locate the notes 
that were provided to AWP and would check to see if they were distributed. 
 

 explained that a meeting was taking place Friday 27th April with the steering group 
and once the group was clear in terms of reference, would like a face to face meeting 
with AWP.   clarified that AWP would not be invited to the steering group.   
clarified this was the case but would put the suggestion to the steering group for future 



 

7 
 

 

reference.   thought it would be effective and more efficient to agree one 
investigation. 
 

advised , AWP staff is made aware and that communication is passed on.   
conformed staff were aware there is an investigation taking place.   explained that 
the Multi Agency Group is looking to review their safeguarding processes.   
explained AWP’s safeguarding processes and concluded they would be asking each 
authority to recall staff back to their substantive posts. 
 

 agreed to liaise with AWP and keep them informed of any progress.   
confirmed AWP was willing to work with Wiltshire Council to resolve the issues. 
 
GO explained that in terms of AWP alerts, he would like to see these passed to the 
specialist safeguarding team based at Wiltshire Council.  agreed and would 
contact GO in order to confirm the transfer process.  stated that clear instructions 
are required as to how the alerts are transferred. 
 

 confirmed that there were a number of action points not fully answered and she 
would confirm this by letter. 
 
GO advised that he would like a joint safeguarding audit,  agreed. 
 

 advised the panel that due to not having all the evidence, another meeting is 
required to receive the information and therefore would like to receive this by close of 
play 11th May 2012. 
 

 clarified as to when the investigation would commence.   advised that she 
could not give a date but would speak to  and pass details on. 
 

 thanked everyone for attending and advised the next meeting would be arranged 
by JC. 
 
 
 
 




